COVID-19 (6LU7) predictive binding association with Aβ oligomers and possible link to Alzheimer's disease



Areej Sohail Khan 00000277267

Supervisor Dr. Saima Zafar

DEPARTMENT OF BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MECHANICAL & MANUFACTURING ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY ISLAMABAD AUGUST, 2022

COVID-19 (6LU7) predictive binding association with Aβ oligomers and possible link to Alzheimer's disease

Author Areej Sohail Khan 00000277267

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MS Biomedical Sciences

> Thesis Supervisor: Dr. Saima Zafar

Thesis Supervisor's Signature:

DEPARTMENT OF BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MECHANICAL & MANUFACTURING ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY, ISLAMABAD SEPTEMBER, 2021

FORM TH-4

MASTER THESIS WORK

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervisionby Areej Sohail Khan Regn No. 00000277267, Titled: COVID-19 (6LU7) predictive binding association with AB oligomers and possible link to Alzheimer's disease be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of MS degree.

Examination Committee Members

2.	Name: Dr. Omer Gillani	Signature:
3.	Name: Dr. Asim Waris	Signature:
Supe	rvisor's name: Dr. Saima Zafar	Signature: Date:

Signature:

Head of Department

Name: Dr. Nosheen Fatima

1.

COUNTERSINGED

Date

Date:

Dean/Principal

THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that final contents and form of MS/MPhil thesis entitled "<u>COVID-19</u> (6LU7) predictive binding association with Aβ oligomers and possible link to <u>Alzheimer's disease</u>" written by Areej Sohail Khan (00000277267), of SMME, has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Status/Regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for the award of MS/MPhil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature: Supervisor: Dr. Saima Zafar Date:

Signature (HoD): Date:

Countersign by

Signature (Dean/Principal):

Date:

Proposed Certificate for Plagiarism

It is certified that MS Thesis Titled <u>COVID-19 (6LU7) predictive binding</u> <u>association with $A\beta$ oligomers and possible link to Alzheimer's disease</u> by Areej Sohail Khan has been examined by us. We undertake the follows:

a. Thesis has significant new work/knowledge as compared already published or are under consideration to be published elsewhere. No sentence, equation, diagram, table, paragraphor section has been copied verbatim from previous work unless it is placed under quotationmarks and duly referenced.

b. The work presented is original and own work of the author (i.e. there is no plagiarism). Noideas, processes, results or words of others have been presented as Author own work.

c. There is no fabrication of data or results which have been compiled/analyzed.

d. There is no falsification by manipulating research materials, equipment or processes, or changing or omitting data or results such that the research is not accurately represented in the research record.

e. The thesis has been checked using TURNITIN (copy of originality report attached) and found within limits as per HEC plagiarism Policy and instructions issued from time to time.

Name & Signature of Supervisor

Dr. Saima Zafar

Signature:

Declaration

I certify that this research work titled "COVID-19 (6LU7) predictive binding association with $A\beta$ oligomers and possible link to Alzheimer's disease" is my own work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The material that has been used from other sources it has been properly acknowledged / referred.

Areej Sohail Khan MS BMS 00000277267

Plagiarism Certificate (Turnitin Report)

This thesis has been checked for Plagiarism. Turnitin report endorsed by Supervisor has been submitted.

Supervisor

Copyright Statement

• Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the student author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the author and lodged in the Library of NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering (SMME). Details may be obtained by the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the author.

• The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering, subject to any prioragreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the SMME, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.

• Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Library of NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering, Islamabad.

Acknowledgements

I am thankful to my Creator Allah who has undoubtedly guided me throughout this work at every step along with making me face new thoughts and hurdles leading to my improvement.

I am thankful to my beloved parents who raised me when I was not capable of walking and continued to give me their endless support in every department of my life.

I would also like to express my special thanks to my supervisor Dr Saima Zafar for her help throughout my thesis.

I would further like to extend my thanks to Dr Nosheen Fatima, Dr Omer Gillani and Dr Asim Waris for being on my thesis guidance and evaluation committee.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to all the individuals especially Dr Aneeqa Noor and Dr Mustafeez Mujtaba Babar who have rendered valuable assistance to my study. Dedicated to my exceptional parents, husband and adored siblings whose tremendous support and cooperation has led me to this wonderful accomplishment

Abstract

The high rise pandemic of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) makes the world face medical challenges associated with multifaceted nature of its pathology. SARS-CoV-2 affects several organs and systems as it enters the host's body one of which is the brain. Over 80 million humans around the globe, including those with neurodegenerative disease (NDD), have been diagnosed with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) to date. COVID-19 affects the brain in many ways including direct infection of neural cells with SARS-CoV-2, severe systemic inflammation that floods the brain with pro-inflammatory agents leading to damaging cells and leading to symptoms presenting cognitive impairment. COVID-19 positive patients showcase neurological symptoms leading to the belief that coronavirus disease plays a role in neurodegenerative diseases. The most common NDD, Alzheimer's disease (AD) is characterized by its multifactorial nature leading to research on risk factors that emphasizes on the inflammation of toxicity and mutual death of cells due to amyloid beta and its conformers, namely monomeric and oligomeric forms. Amyloid beta oligomers initiate toxicity and neural death of cells in AD. The main aim of this study is to decipher the interactive association between toxic forms of amyloid beta oligomer against COVID-19 main protease. We used PDB and Pubchem for library retrieval that was loaded in to discovery studio to extract the active binding site of main protease of SARS-CoV-2 and prepare ligands for docking. Furthermore, we utilized PyRx for docking to investigating binding energies of conformations attained, the best affinity ligands were formed into a complex by the use of Pymol that were than visualized using Discovery studio where 2D interactions were also observed that later were further analyzed using Ligplot+ to get an insight on bond length and strength along with bond types. Aβ oligomer 31-35 binds actively to the active site of M-pro of SARS-CoV-2 at a high affinity rate of -6.3kcal/mol. 6LU7 complex with amyloid 31-35 (Complex 1) when docked with the receptor of apoptotic pathway showed enhanced predictive association. Bioinformatics tools in this research substantiated the important interactive partners amongst amyloid oligomers to COVID-19 highlighting that SARS-Cov-2 may play a role in apoptotic demise of cells ultimately leading to neurodegeneration.

Keywords: Alzheimer's Disease; Aβ oligomers; COVID-19; Dementia; Docking; Neurodegenerative Disorder ; PyRx; PyMol; LigPlot+

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MASTER THESIS WORK	
THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATEiv	
Proposed Certificate for Plagiarismv	
Declarationvi	
Plagiarism Certificate (Turnitin Report)vii	
Copyright Statement	
Acknowledgementsix	
AbstractXI	
Introduction1	
Objectives of the Study	
Literature Review	
COVID 19 Pandemic	
Bioinformatics: The main drive force for COVID-199	
COVID 19 Pandemic and Brain11	
COVID-19: In the light of Inflammation11	
Effects of Dementia in COVID-19 patients11	
Aβ oligomers	
Amyloid beta and it's relation to Alzheimer's	
COVID-19 and the A-beta	
Alzheimer's disease and COVID-19 relation	
Materials and Methods	
Software's and Tools Used	

Software and Online Resources	.5	
RCSB PDB2	.5	
PubChem2	,6	
Discovery Studio	,6	
PYMOL	,6	
PDBsum2	,6	
PyRx	,6	
LigPlot+2	,7	
Methodology	,7	
Selection of Ligand and Protein2	,7	
Secondary Structure Prediction	,7	
Ligand and Protein Preparation2	.8	
Molecular Docking through PyRx3	0	
Results and Discussion	3	
PyRx Vina Analysis	3	
Binding Energy Evaluation	4	
Sequence Analysis	5	
Detailed Analysis of the Ligands and Protein Interaction	6	
PyMol & Discovery Studio Visualization Studios	9	
LigPlot+ Analysis	.1	
6LU7/AMYLOID 31-35 complex	.4	
Discussion	6	
Conclusion		

uture prospects

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Screening Flowchart of Longitudinal Cognitive (Yu et al., 2022)
Figure 2: 3D Structure of 6LU7 Protein (PDB2021)10
Figure 3: Oligomerization process of amyloid beta peptides (Elahi et al., 2016)19
Figure 4: Secondary Structure of the Crystalized Covid-19 main Protease with
Inhibiter N3 6LU7: Secondary Structure assessment reflects ten Helices
Figure 5: Prepared Receptor Molecule (6LU7 Chain A) using Discovery Studio29
Figure 6: Binding Energy Chart of Docking Results Obtained from PyRx
Figure 7: The figure Shows the Interaction of A β 22-35 with 6LU7 Protein using
Discovery Studio Software
Figure 8: 1nteraction of A β 31-35 with 6LU7 Protein using Discovery Studio
Software
Figure 9: Interaction of A β 29-40 with 6LU7 protein using Discovery studio
software
Figure 10 : Interaction that is A β 31-35 with 6LU7 protein using Ligplot software.
Figure 11 : Complex 1 and DR4 binding affinity analysis

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: List of Software used in Study	. 25
Table 2: List of Chemical Properties of 6LU7 (Liu et al, 2020).	. 29
Table 3: Docking Score of 6LU7 with Amyloid Beta Oligomers using PyRx	. 33
Table 4: Detail Analysis of Top 3 Amyloid Oligomers interaction with 6LU7	
obtained from Discovery Studio demonstrating the type of interaction, residue and	d
binding energy	. 37
Table 5: 2-D Representation of Amyloid beta Oligomers interaction with 6LU7	
using LigPlot	. 42

Chapter 1

Introduction

Introduction

The pandemic of recent times as a result of a SARS-CoV-2 or coronavirus-2 infection which is a severe acute respiratory syndrome started spreading in 2019 has infected more than 570 million people leading to the hefty death toll of around 6.8 million people across the globe at present (World health organization., 2022). SARS-CoV-2 is of the beta-coronavirus genus which triggers the COVID-19 disease. COVID-19 simply coined is a respiratory illness leading mostly to dry cough, fever, and fatigue whereas in worst cases an acute respiratory distress syndrome. Most of the people who are infected with COVID-19 are asymptomatic or paucisyntomatic and recover. While around 4% of the people infected with COVID-19 develop severe symptoms which result in inflammatory response and low blood oxygen levels, which in worst case scenarios can lead to multi-organ failure resulting in death (Chiricosta, et al., 2021). People infected by coronavirus-2 about 35% of them even after testing negative to the virus exhibit symptoms including headaches, fatigue, anosmia as well as joint pain after two or more weeks which is associated to what we now refer to as "long COVID-19" as summarized by the Yu et al (Figure 1). The symptoms of COVID-19 vary, and can be associated to lungs, digestive tract, heart, brain and other tissues as well (Lopez-Leon., et al, 2021). Most of the patients who died of COVID-19 were older people and had one or more pre-existing conditions raising questions as to why the particular age group. When it comes to neurological patients, individuals that suffer from dementia are reported to be above 55 million and have greater chances to be infected by coronavirus-2 (Politti et al., 2021).

A proven ordeal is that 60-80% of dementia cases that are present can easily be attributed to Alzheimer's disease (AD) yet there have been no published reports that cement the link of the development of severe COVID-19 with AD or discuss the depth of their relation. B-amyloid (A β) is a major component of the pathology of senile plaques found in brains effected by AD and is considered one of the two prime pathological markers of the disease second being Tau (Mattson et al., 2004), it has also been the most used pharmaceutical target by organizations for immunotherapy treatment (Plotkin, & Cashman., 2020). Most mutations around the A β sequences end up as early onset AD or familial AD as a result of increase in accumulation or the expression of A β . The mutations in A β also impact the residue by changing physicochemical properties that are far from the site where the mutation occurred and are likely to be self-aggregated (Lin et al., 2012). Some studies reported antimicrobial Aß activity, the infection caused by the virus herpes simplex was proposed to be involved in the plaque formation for A β (Saad *et al.*, 2014). The links that have been reported between COVID-19 and Alzheimer's disease (AD), are mechanistic in nature and are focused so far by the recent research on either microvascular injury or neuro-inflammation (Zhou et al., 2021) the neurodegeneration associated with AD is linked to the accumulation of amyloid plaques (van der Kant & Goldstein, 2015). The conditions that have been reported to increase the COVID-19 vulnerability including diabetes mellitus and obesity also increase the levels of circulating AB and have been proven to impact the AD progression (Kipshitzed, 2020; Meinhardt, 2021).

The various forms that $A\beta$ exists in soluble oligomer, insoluble fibers and monomers. The $A\beta$ monomer and the $A\beta$ insoluble fiber doesn't involve synaptic plasticity. While the $A\beta$ oligomer and $A\beta$ dimer are very important players on the impairment structure as well as synaptic function in AD brain (Kong *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 1: Screening Flowchart of Longitudinal Cognitive (Yu et al., 2022).

On top of all of this the individuals suffering from AD rarely exhibit common symptoms like cough or fever, rather show symptoms including diarrhea, drowsiness and delirium which is triggered as a result of hypoxia. A number of studies focused on AD patients that are infected by the coronavirus-2 but it is still unclear how the clinical course is modified by the virus (Ferini-Stramb *et al.*, 2021). It is highly likely that the coronavirus-2 infection triggers neurological conditions including AD. Some of the biochemical process are shared by both AD and COVID-19, both alter

the homoeostasis of the blood-brain barrier, trigger neuro-inflammation and hypoxia. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor is used by coronavirus 2 as an entry point in the human cell while in AD patients it is correlated with oxidative stress levels (Rahman et al., 2021). Anosmia is one of the major symptoms of COVID-19, one of the possible pathways towards the brain for SARS-CoV-2 could be the olfactory epithelium as it is close to the frontal cortex (Chiricosta *et al.*, 2021). In this context the frontal cortex is responsible for memory, reasoning as well as learning behavior and is damaged in advanced AD (Politti et al., 2021). Due to this reason, the frontal cortex in the brain should be the highest link between coronavirus-2 and AD patients. However, very small amounts of data points are focused on older patients with most of it focused on patients without dementia. People that suffer from dementia showed an increased mortality risk by 40% when compared to patients without dementia which does not give a complete explanation (Bianchetti et al., 2020). It is however still unclear if the dementia patient's pathology actually has any direct effects or plays any role in the development of severe COVID-19.

Impairment in cognitive development has been linked to COVID-19 on several occasions as stated above, especially in hospitalized patients (Al-Aly, Xie, & Bowe, 2021; Beaud *et al.*, 2021; Becker *et al.*, 2021; Meppiel *et al.*, 2021; Miners, Kehoe, & Love, 2020; Romero-Sánchez *et al.*, 2020; Taquet, Geddes, Husain, Luciano, & Harrison, 2021; Zhou *et al.*, 2020). That being said it is still unclear weither the neuropathology is a result of direct viral infection of CNS or as an indirect result of the immune response as well as the critical infection and hypercoagulability (Iadecola, Anrather, & Kamel, 2020; Varatharaj *et al.*, 2020). The immune cells and vascular cells can be infected by SARS-CoV-2 as it can cross the barrier between blood-brain and cause damage to the CNS is a question in theory but still has to be answered by evidence (Cantuti-Castelvetri *et al.*, 2020; Jacob *et*

al., 2020; Meinhardt *et al.*, 2021; Neman & Chen, 2015; Solomon, 2021; Song *et al.*, 2021; Yang *et al.*, 2021). All the results and theories point to one direction and are in utter need of a cementing conclusion hence forth rising the question in picture that is what is the link between AD and COVID-19. Therefore in this research we try to tackle the relationship between Coronavirus and Alzheimer by using *Insilco* means and establishing a relation to one of the most popular hallmark of Alzheimer the Amyloid beta.

Objectives of the Study

1- Identification of Interactive association of amyloid- β oligomer (A β O) with COVID-19 M-pro.

2- Characterization of SARS-CoV-2 as a risk modulator for Alzheimer's disease.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

Literature Review

COVID 19 Pandemic

The cases of COVID-19 have been on rise since March 2020 across the world. The situation of viral spread turned into a pandemic is unprecedented and has aggravated psychological problems along with paving ways for new stressors be it economic (Chakraborty & Chatterjee, 2020; Cluver *et al.*, 2020), academic (Cao *et al.*, 2020; Anderson, 2020; Kecojevic *et al.*, 2020), social (Balkhi *et al.*, 2020; Dolan, 2020) or personal (Dubey *et al.*, 2020; Shigemura, 2020).

SARS-CoV-2 infection is linked with an increased risk of impairments in cognitive functioning (Hampshire *et al.*, 2021; Miskowiak *et al.*, 2021). Severe COVID-19 is linked with having risk of early onset, late onset and gradual decline in cognitive functioning whereas non severe COVID-19 is linked with early onset, decline with age and co morbidities (Chang *et al.*, 2014; Zlokovic *et al.*, 2020) and cognitive decline. Also, it has been noticed that 21% individuals suffering from COVID-19 suffered from severe cognitive functioning decline. The findings of these studies highlight that COVID-19 may serve as an increasing cause of dementia in future.

Different mechanisms are involved in deterioration of cognitive functioning caused by COVID-19. The neurovascular elements are involved in development of post infection decline among the people who survived COVID-19 (Qin *et al.*, 2021; Kas *et al.*, 2021). Also, long lasting hypoxia contribute towards the decline in cognitive functioning (Solomon *et al.*, 2021; Huang *et al.*, 2021). Hypoxia releases the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 α , which causes an increase in the production

of β -amyloid. Hypoxia, on the other hand, also lower the rate at which the proteins break down which increases the level of proteins (Rhodes *et al.*, 2022). Additionally, inflammatory factors do not settle down to their normal status even when months are passed after the recovery and it is more common individuals suffering from severe COVID-19 (Zhou *et al.*, 2021).

Neurodegeneration is also caused as a result of this disease which contributes towards the cognitive functioning (Merkler *et al.*, 2020). This is supported by the fact that individuals who are the survivors of COVID-19 have an increased number of neurodegenerative biomarkers (Prudencio *et al.*, 2021; Virhammar *et al.*, 2021; Song *et al.*, 2021; Liu *et al.*, 2022).

Bioinformatics: The main drive force for COVID-19

Bioinformatics application to research and the history of drugs has never been so important. COVID-19 urged the use of various bioinformatics tools in studying the molecular structure of the pathogen. A huge rise in the usage of these applications was observed which helped in developing affective vaccines, drug repurposing and discovery (Chukwudozie *et al.*, 2021). For the validation of the experiments and further strengthening, different bioinformatics platforms and computational tools played their part (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2021).

This virus belongs to the family Coronaviridae. It causes COVID-19, an infectious disease. Its biology has been under study since a long time but the bioinformatic tools designed especially to study this and for the treatment of COVID-19 have been developed recently (Hufsky *et al.*, 2021). For the development of an effective and precise vaccine silico methos of bioinformatics, vaccino-genomics, immune-informatics, structural biology and molecular stimulations tend to play a major part (Ishack & Lipner, 2021).

The main COVID-19 protein under study is 6LU7. The protease of which consists of two chains A and C, chain A belongs to protease and chain C belongs to N3 inhibitor N-[(5methylisoxazol-3yl) carbonyl] alanyl-L-valyl-N-1- (1R,2Z)-4- (benzyloxy)-4-oxo-1–1- [(3R)-2-oxopyprolidin-3-3yl] methyl but-2-enyl)-L-lucinamide (Vijayakumar, 2022). (Figure 2)



Figure 2: 3D Structure of 6LU7 Protein (PDB2021).

COVID 19 Pandemic and Brain

COVID-19: In the light of Inflammation

In COVID-19 brain autopsies, chronic neurological diseases and acute abnormalities are observed along with acute hypoxic injury, haemorrhage and minimal inflammation (Mukerji & Solomon, 2021). The blood of COVID-19 patients included high levels of inflammatory markers. Such people have an increased chance of having hyperinflammation and cytokine storm. It also indirectly induces stroke, toxic-metabolic encephalopathy, acute inflammatory demyelinating other polyneuropathy/Guillain Barre syndrome, and neuropsychiatric manifestations, such as psychosis, insomnia, and mood changes. (Wang et al., 2021). Post COVID-19 neuropsychiatric symptoms were found in 20 to 70 percent of patients in Germany and United Kingdom. SARS-CoV-2 can cause a damage on endothelia cells which causes brain damage and inflammation. Systematic inflammation leads an individual towards decreased monoamines and trophic factors and activation of microglia which causes increased glutamate and N-methyl-Daspartate $(NMDA)^{3}$ and excitotoxicity. The brain damage caused by COVID-19 is similar to the damage to brain caused by brain injury. The neuropathology of COVID-19 plays an important part in understanding the neurodegenerative processes which are linked to neuroinflammation in diseases of the brain (Boldrini et al., 2021).

Effects of Dementia in COVID-19 patients

COVID-19 patients have displayed neurological dysfunctions ranging from mild ones including dizziness, headaches to severe ones involving encephalitis and ischemic stroke. Two basic hypotheses revolving around the brain inflammation and cognitive dysfunction caused by SARS-CoV-2 include that the cholinergic neurotransmission plays an important part in different cognitive functions. This has been linked to neurodegenerative disorders including Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Fontana *et al.*, 2020). Aged people suffering from COVID-19 are at higher risk of death and complications (Dix & Roy, 2022).

Patients suffering from COVID-19 also, have a loss of grey matter in the left para hippocampal gyrus, the left orbitofrontal cortex and left insula. Changes in the anterior cingulated cortex, supramarginal gyrus and temporal pole has also been observed. These changes are similar to those found in patients suffering from Alzheimer's disease and dementia (Douaud *et al.*, 2021). Mortality rate of individuals having dementia and COVID-19 is much higher than individuals who do not suffer from dementia. Literature also highlighted the fact the dementia comorbid have a high risk of mortality from COVID-19 (Liu *et al.*, 2020).

Monomeric and fibrillar Aß

Monomeric types of $A\beta$ have every now and again been proposed as harmful modulators in the improvement of AD. For instance, Taylor and partners (Taylor *et al.*, 2003) detailed that most extreme cell harm saw in SH-EP1 cells and hippocampal neurons utilizing a SYTOX Green assay matches with the gathering of a monomeric $A\beta$ animal varieties ready to multimerize into higher-n $A\beta$ species, likewise called 'enacted monomer'. Similarly, mature $A\beta$ fibrils have been proposed as intense neurotoxic AD-inducers, in spite of the fact that comparable conflicting discoveries concerning monomeric $A\beta$ exist. The speculation that not all fibril morphologies are similarly poisonous, prompting variable outcomes concerning cytotoxicity, was effectively tested by Yoshiike and partners (Yoshiike *et al.*, 2012) that's what they revealed, utilizing point changes and substance adjustment, both a β -sheet fibrillar structure as well as the surface physicochemical piece of the fibril characterize the harmful intensity of $A\beta$. One year earlier, Puzzo and Arancio (Puzzo and Aranico, 2011) had shown that artificially inferred fibrillar A β can impede the late period of long haul potentiation. As it is truly challenging to guarantee the immaculateness of a monomeric or fibrillar A β arrangement, without pollution of either preseeds or protofibrillar material, it can't be barred that the poisonousness noticed for monomeric and fibrillar A β is really the consequence of defilement. Additionally, expanding proof proposes that the harmfulness of A β starts rather from oligomeric A β .

The Aßos hypothesis

The "amyloid cascade hypothesis", proposed in 1992, recommends that A β testimony is the most vital phase in the obsessive improvement of AD, which then, at that point, prompts tau pathologies, synaptic brokenness, neuron misfortune and dementia (Hardy *et al.*, 1992). In this way, because of the huge harmfulness of A β os, and the cozy connection among oligomers and discernment and memory, the speculation was overhauled to "A β os cascade theory" (Hardy *et al.*, 2002), which recommends that dissolvable A β os straightforwardly cause brain signal brokenness, actuate neuronal apoptosis, and repress synaptic long haul potentiation (LTP). Numerous investigations have shown that A β os apply neurotoxic impacts through various instruments, for example, receptor restricting, mitochondrial brokenness, Ca2+ homeostasis dysregulation and tau pathologies (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Amyloid beta toxicity (a) Ab cause mitochondrial dysfunction leading to ROS generation. (b) Oxidative stress caused by Ab oligomers. (c) Cell membrane disruption by Ab aggregates. (d) Telomerase inhibition. (e) Ab interfere with signalling pathways causing synaptic toxicity (Rajeshkar et al 2016)

Receptor-Mediated Neurotoxicity of Aßos

A β os can bind to a variety of receptors on the surface of neurons, altering downstream signaling pathways, and sourcing cell death ultimately. There are a wide range of receptors (Figure 4), over 20 types that are recognized by A β os such as cellular prion protein (PrPc), glutamate receptors, β 2-adrenergic receptor (β 2-AR), p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75NTR) and cyclin dependant kinase 5 (CDK5) and death receptor (Dr4) (Morazko *et al.*, 2018).



Figure 4: Amyloid Beta Oligomer Receptors (Rodriguiz et al; 2021, Martin et al; 2020, Fernando et al; 2016, Raina et al; 2012)

Aßos can hinder the action of glutamate receptors to disrupt synaptic pliancy. NMDAR is a glutamate receptor, which has particle channel action, and assumes a basic part in directing neurotransmitter development and synaptic versatility (Um *et al.*, 2012). A few investigations have shown that Aßos upset NMDAR movement and hindered NMDAR-subordinate flagging pathway, prompting synaptic misfortune and the lessening of spinal thickness. What's more, Aßos upset the NMDAR-intervened postsynaptic Ca2+ announcing influencing the capability of NMDAR and modifying the accessibility of extracellular glutamate, which causes LTP debilitation (Liang *et al.*, 2017) α -Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic corrosive receptor (AMPAR) is another glutamate receptor containing four subunits GluA1-A4, which takes part in tweak of synaptic versatility and homeostasis. Aßos prompt the decrease of AMPAR level by speeding up the debasement, and increment AMPAR ubiquitination, bringing about the deficiency of AMPAR action and concealment of synaptic transmission (Diering *et al.*, 2018). Besides, A β os cause tau hyperphosphorylation and unusual gathering in dendritic spines, which thus shortfalls the A β os-interceded AMPAR flagging pathway, framing an endless loop (Miller *et al.*, 2014)

The Polymorphism of Aβos

A β os are vastly heterogeneous and show varieties in size, adaptation, conglomeration mode, and harmfulness and appearance time in the cerebrum. To precisely investigate the attributes of various A β os, the initial step is to isolate oligomers with various sizes or compliances. As of now, a few methodologies like centrifugation and size rejection chromatography (SEC) can isolate oligomers as indicated by sub-atomic size yet can't recognize conformities. Numerous A β os-explicit antibodies like A11, OC, as well as W20, NAbs-A β o, ready in our research facility, have been affirmed to perceive the high level conformity of A β os (Liu *et al.*, 2014; Zhou *et al.*, 2014) which can be utilized to separate A β os with various conformations.

Aβ Dimers

A β dimers are the smallest of A β aggregates, and they have three main characteristics namely being high levels in the brains of AD patients and transgenic mice, stability in SDS and strong denaturants (McDonald *et al.*, 2015) and noteworthy neurotoxicity (Brinkmalm *et al.*, 2019). It is projected that A β dimers are modelled by cross-link via tyrosine acid residue phenol coupling (DiY) and enzymatic coupling (QK) among glutamine and tyrosine buildups, bringing about the obstruction of dimers to the solid denaturants (O'Malley *et al.*, 2018). The most recent review showed that A β dimers got from AD human cerebrums were made out of numerous A β monomers with various lengths, and these various monomers were covalently coupled at the ASP1 and Glu22 destinations to frame stable dimers neurotoxicity (Brinkmalm *et al.*, 2019). Nonetheless, it is indistinct whether the poison levels of the dimers framed through various cross-connecting destinations are unique.

It is for the most part viewed as that $A\beta$ dimers might be the essential constituent unit of filaments or oligomers. In Tg2576 and J20 model mice, $A\beta$ dimers were recognized after the age of 10 months, in which an enormous number of plaque stores showed up in the cortex, demonstrating that there might be a few associations between $A\beta$ dimers and filaments (Jin *et al.*, 2011). Also, $A\beta$ dimers are for the most part seen in AD patients more than 60 years of age. The degree of $A\beta$ dimers hence increments strongly, which shows the positive relationship among's dimers and plaque in the cerebrums (Lesne *et al.*, 2013). Adding cerebrum determined $A\beta$ dimers to essential neurons can diminish the length of neurons neurotoxicity (Brinkmalm *et al.*, 2019), trigger synaptic harm and neuron passing, hinder LTP reaction and prompt tau hyperphosphorylation (Jin *et al.*, 2011).

Aβ Trimers

Although there is no evident correlation amongst the trimmers of amyloid and plaque deposits, $A\beta$ trimers are accountable as an aggregation unit of multiple A β os namely the forms, hexamers and dodecamers (Jana *et al.*, 2016) Studies have shown that $A\beta$ *56 is a kind of A β os collected by trimers (Lesne *et al.*, 2013) and the initial step of amylospheroids (ASPD) development is to from trimers (Matsumura *et al.*, 2011). Also, A β trimers are the earliest A β totals in the cerebrums of AD human and transgenic mice. In the essential cortical neurons of Tg2576 mice, monomers and trimers can be distinguished before dimers, showing that trimers might be created at the beginning phase. Further examination recommended that A β trimers originally showed up in the undeveloped phase of Tg2576 mice, then, at that point, expanded consistently with maturing, and existed over the course of life (Lesne *et al.*, 2006). Steady with AD creature models, in human cerebrum, the trimers exist since youth,

and their levels step by step increment with age, however there is no huge connection among's trimers and plaque stores (Lesne *et al.*, 2006).

The harmfulness of A β trimers is at present questionable. It was found that trimers and tetramers arranged by PICUP collection had noticeable harmfulness to neurons, yet the poisonousness of dimers was extremely feeble. Besides, decreasing how much A β trimers in the mind of APP/PS1 mice essentially mitigated the mental hindrance (Lesne et al., 2013). At the point when the refined essential neurons were treated with AB trimers segregated from mind tissues of AD patients, trimers actuated the difference in tau compliance and caused the disturbance of axonal vehicle, the two of which were related with decrease of the kinesin-1 light chain (KLC1) (Jana et al., 2016). Notwithstanding, a few examinations contended that AB trimers acted exclusively as a central gathering unit for poisonous congregations as opposed to a harmful component. They found that the trimers secluded from 7PA2 cells or AD mouse cerebrums essentially restrained the LTP reaction, yet the harmfulness was more modest than homodimers and A β *56 (Lin *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, there is no reasonable connection between AB trimers and the mental capacity of AD mice (Lesne *et al.*, 2006), and the association among trimers and hyperphosphorylation of tau protein in the cerebrum of AD patients is likewise vague (Lesne et al., 2013).

Aβ oligomers

Most amyloids which represent toxic species of amyloids contain soluble oligomers. All soluble oligomers have the conformation dependent structure which is unique. The in vitro toxicity of such oligomers is under inhibition of oligomer specific antibody. They are different from fibrillar amyloid. These both share a common structure of formation and have the same mechanism in terms of toxicity (Kayed *et al.*, 2003).


Figure 5: Oligomerization process of amyloid beta peptides (Elahi et al., 2016).

The soluble amyloid oligomers are representatives of primary pathologic species in degenerative diseases. A common group of pathologic processes is generated and this includes intracellular from permeabilization process calcium dyshomeostasis, production of reactive oxygen species, altered signalling pathways, and mitochondrial dysfunction that represent key effectors of cellular dysfunction and cell death in amyloid-associated degenerative disease (Glabe & Kayed, 2005). A relationship might occur between the toxicity induced by oligomer and inflammation. A negative correlation exists between the size of oligomer and toxicity caused after reaching a critical mass (Figure 5) (Sengupta *et al.*, 2016).

Amyloid beta and it's relation to Alzheimer's

One of the most common diseases causing the most damages to the human brain in elderly humans is Alzheimer's disease. It is characterized by cognitive dysfunction among the patients (Schachter & Davis, 2000). A major pathological disturbance identified in people suffering from Alzheimer's disease is the abnormal neuroinflammation induced by A β o. This results in impairment in memory. In response to infections or damage to tissues, nucleotide-binding domain and leucinerich repeat (NLR) pyrin domain-containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome is mostly activated (Sita *et al.*, 2021).

The changes in genetics also lead towards the onset of Alzheimer's disease. The metabolism of small beta amyloid (A β) peptide is affected mainly during this disease which is one of two major components of the disease (Hyman, 2011). The accumulation of soluble A β o starts almost two decades earlier than the clinical onset of the disease Death receptors DR4 and DR5 specifically get activated by oligomeric A β induction of extrinsic apoptotic pathways in human microvascular cerebral endothelial cells thus leading to activation of both caspase-8 and caspase-9 (Hector & Brouillette, 2021).

One of the key molecules in AD is amyloid beta peptide. Initially it was thought the accumulation of A β o serves as a contributing factor of onset of AD as it causes formation of senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, neuronal loss, and dementia. Soluble A β o play a crucial role in the aetiology of AD. Currently, Alzheimer's is believed to be caused by the synaptic dysfunction as a result of soluble A β o. This is known commonly as oligomers hypothesis. Brains with AD have a higher level of A β o. In addition to this, brains with AD also have a mutation in E693 delta which caused an increase in the production of A β o (Tomiyama, 2010). Even if there is an elevated level of A β o among people with AD, it is not necessarily related to the severity level of the disease (Sephton & Yu, 2008; Bloom, 2014).

COVID-19 and the A-beta

The links that have been reported between COVID-19 and Alzheimer's disease (AD), are mechanistic in nature and are focused so far by the recent research on either microvascular injury or neuro-inflammation (Zhou *et al.*, 2021) the neurodegeneration associated with AD is linked to the accumulation of amyloid

plaques (van der Kant & Goldstein, 2015). Researches indicate that the neuroinflammation is highly involved in the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's. A very important mediator in the development of Alzheimer's disease is immunological sensor NLRP3 inflammasome. Researches indicate that the SARS-CoV-2 produces a systematic inflammatory response which mediates by the overstimulation in the pathway of NLRP3 inflammasome pathway. NLRP3 also helps in the activation of AD by causing an impairment in amyloid-beta peptide clearance. The conditions that have been reported to increase the COVID-19 vulnerability including diabetes mellitus and obesity also increase the levels of circulating A β and have been proven to impact the AD progression (Kipshitzed, 2020; Meinhardt, 2021).

The development of Alzheimer's disease in patients suffering from COVID-19 is also caused by the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokinesis which includes such as interleukin (IL)-1 β which releases during the time when NLRP3 inflammasome is activated. It can also happen during IL-17 OR IL-16 and the tumour necrosis factor - α (TNF- α) which is the result of production of immune cells activate as a response to an infection (Wang *et al.*, 2021).

Different changes have been linked with SARS-CoV-2 infection. It has been found out that people who have survived coronavirus disease may suffer from long term abnormalities which causes cognitive deficits and changes in the mood. One of the prominent features of COVID-19 is the central and systematic inflammation. The same neuroinflammations are found to be a feature of AD by triggering amyloid pathways and Major Depressive Disorder. COVID-19 is also linked to acute neurological affects. Such people are at a high risk of developing neuropsychiatric disorders (Silve *et al.*, 2022).

Alzheimer's disease and COVID-19 relation

Neuroinflammation takes place in AD which affects the memory and cognition of the individual (Islam *et al.*, 2020). Alzheimer's disease is highly associated with the neuropsychiatric symptoms and more than 80 percent of patients suffering from AD exhibit at least one of these symptoms over the period of time during the period of disease (Boutoleau-Bretonnière *et al.*, 2020).

COVID-19 shares the same aetiology as many other diseases, including Alzheimer's disease too. For the development of affective medicine of COVID-29, its link with the AD is also reviewed. Both COVID-19 and AD share the same angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors and pro-inflammatory markers The cholinergic system is affected by the A β o which cause behavioural changes in the patients suffering from AD causing upto 75 percent changes in the brain (Rahman *et al.*, 2021).

In the severe cases of COVID-19, the blood brain barrier is disrupted and is caused by the cytokine storms which is a systematic inflammation which is pathological mechanism of AD and damages the neural and glial cells. The pro inflammatory cytokines change the capacity of microglial cells and coverts them to phagocyte beta amyloids which causes the amyloid plaques to be accumulated. This in turns makes it easier for the brain to access central nervous system due to the high permeability of blood brain barrier. This increases the process of neuroinflammation and ultimately leads towards the neurodegenerative process (Ciaccio *et al.*, 2021). One of the most highly observed cytokinesis is IL-6 and its increased levels are linked with a high probability of development of COVID-19 and mortality. It also serves as a marker for AD and COVID-19 both and its presence at higher levels causes cognitive dysfunction and progresses AD (Chen *et al.*, 2020).

Studies have revealed that there are chances that AD might originate from COVID-19. Neurodegeneration caused by neuroinflammation is a highlighted

feature of Alzheimer's disease which speeds up the process of brain inflammation which is more common among elder individuals (Naughton et al., 2020). The neurodegenerative diseases are also caused by neuroinvasive potential (Abate et al., 2020). The various pathological changes in AD patients might include excessive expression of viral receptor angiotensin converting enzyme 2 and pro-inflammatory molecules, various AD complications including diabetes, lifestyle alterations in AD, and drug-drug interactions. COVID-19 also causes cognitive impairments after SARS CoV-2 invades the central nervous system which lead towards the development of AD. Furthermore, it also makes the behavioural symptoms worse in patients who are not affected by AD thus providing new challenges for the prevention of AD (Xia et al., 2021). Beta amyloid has also been found to be associated with COVID-19 pandemics, as shown in PET/CT scans (Laudicella et al., 2021). The neuropathological pathways causing Amyloid plaque ruminants typically associated with AD have been found to be activated in COVID-19 patients (Reiken et al., 2022). In conclusion, SAR-CoV-2 has substantial neurological symptom manifestations along with amyloid beta conformer potential role in dementia manifestation leading to the hypothetical conjecture that COVID-19 has a high potential to be a risk modulator for Alzheimer's disease

Chapter 3

Material and Methods

Materials and Methods

Software's and Tools Used

Different Insilco based software utilized in the study are enlisted in the Table 0.1.

Table 0.1: List of Software used in Study.

Software	Application	Developer	
PyRx	Molecular docking	Source Forge	
PyMOL	3-D analysis of ligand – protein complex	f ligand – Schrödinger, Inc mplex	
Discovery Studio	Visualization and 2D analysis	Biovia	
Ligplot+	2-D representation of ligand protein complex	Roman Laskowski	

Software and Online Resources

RCSB PDB

The RCSB PDB (https://www.rcsb.org/pdb/home/sitemap.do) is a protein data bank. The site contains 3D shapes of proteins and nucleic acids. This is the single archive that contains all the structural information of all the biological macromolecules. The database contains structures determined from different techniques such as NMR, X-ray crystallography and cryoelectron microscopy. (Berman *et al.*, 2000)

PubChem

The DrugBank is a bioinformatics database that contains all the information and structures of drugs and also their potential protein targets. The database include 5K+ entries with 1000 of them are FDA approved. (Wishart *et al.*, 2006)

Discovery Studio

BIOVIA Dicovery Studio modeling and simulation software allows scientists to perform computations of chemical, biological and materials properties; to simulate, visualize and analyze chemical and biological systems; and to communicate the results to other scientists (Haque *et al.*, 2022)

PYMOL

It is a visualizing tool for visualization and also model molecules and makes them presentable. The PDB structure is loaded and one can also change the color of the protein and label the residues of the protein. It is a tool for molecular graphics that is used mostly to visualize three dimensional structures of proteins, small molecules, nucleic acids, surfaces, trajectories and electron densities. This tool can also be used to edit the molecules and also make movies. (Yuan *et al.*, 2017)

PDBsum

For the evaluation of in depth structural analysis of the selected protein PDBsum tool was used available at (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/pdbsum) PDBsum enables one to get structural features of peptides, proteins and their ligands (Laskowski *et al.*, 2018).

PyRx

The drugs or ligands are docked with protein using AutoDock Vina in PyRx, which is a virtual screening tool. The tool has docking wizard and has easy to use interface which plays an important role in Computer Aided Drug Design (CADD). For our work we used PyRx 0.8 version which can be downloaded from (http://pyrx.sourceforge.net.)

LigPlot+

The LigPlot+ has two domains. LigPlot, which is for Protein-ligand interaction studies. Dimplot is used for Protein-Protein interaction studies. We used Dimplot for interaction studies. The Dimplot generates 2-D protein-protein interaction diagram from 3D structure. The diagram shows at which points hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic bonds are formed. (Laskowski & Swindells, 2011).

Methodology

Selection of Ligand and Protein

Covid-19 (PDB ID: 6LU7) was selected after literature review. The main COVID-19 protein under study is 6LU7. The protease of which consists of two chains A and C, chain A belongs to protease and chain C belongs to N3 inhibitor N-[(5methylisoxazol-3yl) carbonyl] alanyl-L-valyl-N-1- (1R,2Z)-4- (benzyloxy)-4oxo-1–1- [(3R)-2-oxopyprolidin-3-3yl] methyl but-2-enyl)-L-lucinamide (Vijayakumar, 2022). Chain A was used in this study. In order to retrieve the ligand literatures were studied, PubChem, Science Direct, PubMed Scopus, Google Scholar etc were used by inserting searching terms such as "Amyloid Beta" or "Amyloid Beta Oligomers" or "Amyloid Beta (Random Proteomic Sequences)" (Yimer *et al.*, 2019).

Secondary Structure Prediction

For the evaluation of in depth structural analysis of the selected protein PDBsum tool was used available at (<u>http://www.ebi.ac.uk/pdbsum</u>) PDBsum enables one to get structural features of peptides, proteins and their ligands (Laskowski *et al.*, 2018). Enlarged secondary structure is given in Figure 4.



Ligand and Protein Preparation

3- Dimensional structure of covid-19 was downloaded from Protein data bank under PDB ID: 6LU7 (Liu *et al.*, 2020) 2- Dimensional structure of 6LU7 is given in figure 6 and properties of 6LU7 is reported in table 1. Amyloid Beta Oligomers were taken from PUBCHEM (https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/, accessed on 2 May 2022) in .sdf format. The structure of 6LU7 was further purified for docking by



Figure 6: Secondary Structure of the Crystalized Covid-19 main Protease with Inhibiter N3 6LU7: Secondary Structure assessment reflects ten Helices.

removal of the attached ligand and water molecules to bear the active site open using Discovery Studio and saved in a PDB format for further analysis. Chain A (Figure 7) is used in this study (https://discover.3ds.com/discovery-studiovisualizer-download (accessed on 2 May 2022).



Figure 7: Prepared Receptor Molecule (6LU7 Chain A) using Discovery Studio https://www.3ds.com/products-services/biovia/products/molecular-modeling-simulation/biovia-discovery-studio/).

Table 1: List of Chemical Properties of 6LU7 (Liu et al, 2020).

Protein	The crystal structure of COVID-19 main protease in	
	complex with an inhibitor N3	
PDB ID	6LU7	
Classification	Protein binding	

Organism	Homo Sapien		
Total formula weight	33825.5		
Method	X-ray Diffraction		
Sequence length	306		
Chain	А		

Molecular Docking through PyRx

PyRx

Pyrx is an open-source computer aided drug discovery software. This is used to dock compounds and study their binding energies to analyse binding affinity and interaction presence.

Docking

For docking through PyRx protocol proposed by Sargis Dallakyan and Arthur J. Olson was followed (Dallakyan, Sargis; Olson, 2015). Ligand and protein format was .sdf and .pdb, respectively. First receptor molecule was converted into PDBQT form by the inbuilt program.

Energy Minimization

Energy of ligand molecules using field strength in the MMFF94 (Merck molecular force field) (Tosco *et al.*, 2014) was minimized by tool in Open Babel software package that is already implanted in PyRx (O'Boyle *et al.*, 2011) and converts all the molecules in PDBQT format step wise.

Docking

Vina wizard module in PyRx was used for docking and the results obtain for both drugs and natural compounds are presented in table. Vina significantly improves the accuracy of the binding mode predictions by speeding up that is achieved from parallelism, by using multithreading on multi-core machines. AutoDock Vina automatically calculates the grid maps and clusters the results in a way transparent to the user with the highest of accuracy (Trot & Olson., 2010)

Ligand and receptor Interaction

In order to analyse the interaction between ligand and receptor, the docked molecules were submitted to pyMOL (Siam *et al.*, 2017) to produce a ligand – receptor complex. pyMOL is an open-source tool use for Molecular Visualization. Ligand-receptor complex was then analysed through bioinformatic tool BIOVIA Dicovery Studio by modeling and simulation of a 2D interactive picture (Haque *et al.*, 2022) after which Ligplot+ that is used for 2-D representation of the Protein-Ligand Complex was used (Laskowski & Swindells, 2011).

Chapter 4

Results and Discussions

Results and Discussion

SAR-CoV-2 under PDB ID: 6LU7 was selected as a target protein and different ranging Amyloid beta oligomers were used as candidate ligand. PyRx are was used for the molecular docking, PyMOL was used for ligand-protein complexes visualization along with Discovery studio to study and visualize in 2D and Ligplot for the analysis of the ligand-protein interaction.

PyRx Vina Analysis

PyRx tool was also used for the evaluation of Amyloid beta oligomeric ligands and to compare their binding affinity to the select the top binding target. Table 2 represents the binding energy of the compounds with 6LU7.

Ligand	Target	Binding Energy	
Amyloid Beta 22-35	6LU7	-5.8	
Amyloid Beta 17-42	6LU7	-5.2	
Amyloid Beta 1-16	6LU7	-5.7	
Amyloid Beta 29-40	6LU7	-5.3	
Amyloid Beta 15-21	6LU7	-3.7	
Amyloid Beta 25-35	6LU7	-5.2	
Amyloid Beta 29-40	6LU7	-5.6	

Table 2: Docking Score of 6LU7 with Amyloid Beta Oligomers using PyRx.

Amyloid Beta 31-35	6LU7	-6.3
Amyloid Beta 36-38	6LU7	-5.5
Amyloid Beta 1-7	6LU7	-5.3
Amyloid Beta 1-42	6LU7	-6.5

PyRx vina shows A β 1-42 showcases a -6.5 Kcal/mol binding energy but when focused the A β 31-35 (PubChem ID: 4423247) gives the best result (-6.3 Kcal/mol) which shows the high affinity of the two compounds. A β 22-35 give the binding energy (-5.8 Kcal/mol) and A β 29-40 showcases the energy (-56 Kcal/mol). A β 31-35 is the site of aptotic induction and an interaction with it at a high affinity showcases how dementia can be caused directly by Coronavirus infection. Ligplot analysis of Amyloid beta 31-35 and 6LU7 shows that Leu 141 and Tyr 237 make a Hydrogen bond with the ligand with the distance of 3.80Å and 3.26Å, respectively. Other amino acids show hydrophobic interaction with ligand.

Binding Energy Evaluation

Listed in the Chart below (Figure 8) is a comparative view of the binding energy in kcal/mol obtained from docking of ligands od amyloid beta oligomers with COVID-19 (PDB ID: 6LU7) representing the affinity of each compound with the suggested target.



Figure 8: Binding Energy Chart of Docking Results Obtained from PyRx.

Sequence Analysis

Sequence of Amyloid beta 1-42 was analyzed in comparison to the amyloid oligomers attained which showcased the main high affinity sequence of the high affinity region. Figure 9 displays the sequence comparison done along with the highlighted region of Ile-Ile-Gly-Leu-Met that has the binding energy of -6.3.



Figure 9: Sequence study for comparison of amino acid involvement in bonding.

The sequence analysis pin pointed the main amino acid residues that imparted the affinity of highest attachment when in interactive association with 6LU7 main active site. The main amino acid as stated before all play vital roles in translation, permeability and receptor attachment.

Detailed Analysis of the Ligands and Protein Interaction

Active residues of 6LU7 that interacts with ligands using Discovery Studio are Thr 190, Leu 141, Gln 189 and Glu 166, Met 49, Gln 192, Leu 167 and Thr 26. Detailed analysis of the ligands and protein interaction are presented in the table 3, where it is describe how the and which amino acid residue is in the contact with the ligand, bonding type, the energy and bonding distance between are briefly explained. Table 3: Detail Analysis of Top 3 Amyloid Oligomers interaction with 6LU7obtained from Discovery Studio demonstrating the type of interaction, residue andbinding energy.





PyMol & Discovery Studio Visualization Studios

The PyRx was used to dock 6LU7 with A β (29-40, 31-35, 22-35). The PDBQT file generated by PyRx were opened in Pymol to generate coordinates and be used to visualize in Discovery studio. The result with least binding energy as stated above were chosen as it indicates successful docking is done. The process is done separately for all of the oligomers and then after all this the interactions were studied using LigPlot+ software.



Figure 10: Interaction of A β 22-35 (ball and socket) with 6LU7 (blue) Protein using Discovery Studio Software.



Figure 11: Interaction of $A\beta$ 31-35 (Ball and Socket) with 6LU7 (Blue) Protein using Discovery Studio Software.



Figure 12: Interaction of $A\beta$ 29-40 (ball and socket) with 6LU7 (blue) protein using Discovery studio software.

LigPlot+ Analysis

Ligplot software was used for the evaluation of the protein-ligand complex interaction. PDB file complexes made and retrieved from PyMOL were analyzed by using Ligplot. 2-D representation of protein-ligand complexes are presented in table 4 which showcases the bonding types between the amino acids and ligands and their binding affinity.

Key

The meaning of the items on the plot is as follows:



His 53 Non-ligand residues involved in hydrophobic contact(s)

Corresponding atoms involved in hydrophobic contact(s)

Table 4: 2-D Representation of Amyloid beta Oligomers interaction with 6LU7using LigPlot.





In Amyloid beta 22-35, Leu 287 makes a Hydrogen bond with the distance of 3.18Å while in Amyloid beta 31-35, Cys 145 and Gln 149 makes a Hydrogen bond with the ligand with the distance of 3.35Å and 1.71Å, respectively. Other amino acids display hydrophobic interaction with ligand molecule. The top interative association in complex with 6LU7 are presented in Figure 13 for 2D interactive studies and analyzing bond lengths and there natures.



Amyloid Beta 31-35

Figure 13: The figure shows interactive association of $A\beta$ 31-35 with 6LU7 protein using Ligplot software.

The bond length of the amyloid beta 31-35 structure as displayed (Figure 13) showcases a favorable high energy bond at a viable bond length, this mean the stability of the complex is in high tier making it a stable complex that requires a high amount of energy to be separated.

6LU7/AMYLOID 31-35 complex

Amyloid collection around cerebral vessels is known to incite degeneration of the whole neurovascular unit (Richard *et al.*, 2012). In addition to the fact that insoluble amyloid species collecting at the vascular walls cause changes of the smooth muscle and endothelial cell layers however amyloid testimony and associative micro

hemorrhages likewise happen in little slim vessels without the smooth muscle layer, underscoring the significance of CAA-subordinate components in mind endothelial cells. Expanding proof proposes that apoptotic biochemical fountains assume crucial parts in the neuronal brokenness and demise saw in AD (Lin *et al* 2010). Ongoing discoveries exhibit the enlistment of closely resembling A β -intervened cell demise systems in vascular cells as those portrayed in neurons in which mitochondrial brokenness and commitment of apoptotic pathways including cell passing receptors have been hypothesized (Ghiso *et al.*, 2014).

DR4	Amyloid beta 31-35	6lu7	Binding Energy
\checkmark	\checkmark		-4.1
\checkmark		\checkmark	-2.8
\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-6.0

Figure 14: Complex interactive association shows an aggressive approach

Death receptors are portrayed by a cytoplasmic district known as the "death space" that empowers the receptors to start cytotoxic signal exchange when connected by related ligands. DR4 interaction with Amyloid beta 31-35 has a binding energy of - 4.1kcal/mol and activates the cascade of DISC whereas DR4 with 6LU7 and Amyloid beta 31-35 complex has a binding energy of -6.0kcal/mol thus showcasing a high binding affinity then either alone showcasing an aggressive approach.

Discussion

During the past decade, computational approaches have shown their success and power in assisting interactive studies, drug development and disease control. Keeping the increasing number of COVID-19 as well as Alzheimer disease patients in mind, searching for potential links and solutions to combat the disease chimera in efficient time, and in a cost-effective manner has become even more significant. Taking advantage of all available information on amyloid beta conformers and their role in neurodegeneration this study investigates the potential risk that COVID-19 may have on Alzheimer disease. The amyloid beta oligomers, an AD hallmark of current time were used to target the COVID-19 main protease alpha chain active sites. An amalgamation of computational tools; including molecular docking, virtual screening, molecular dynamics simulations and Ligplot analysis were used to identify an interactive association ground for Alzheimer disease and COVID-19. The insights into the Amyloid beta oligomers and their complexes, as well as their binding energies, were explained in prediction of 6LU7 dynamics. Our findings provide a foundation which would be helpful for further research for predictive association analysis in depth.

With the goal to investigate SARS-CoV19 as a risk factor for Alzheimer disease this study utilizes the available X-ray structure of COVID-19 main protein (PDB id 6LU7) as a starting point. Initially, interactive indicated a successful and robust docking protocol with Vina, PyRx. In this study Amyloid beta oligomer 31-35 interacted significantly with 6LU7 proving through pre-existing data and available literature that COVID-19 may lead to the apoptotic death of neural cells and eventually cause dementia. Amyloid beta oligomer 22-35 also showed predictive interactive association in a considerable capacity with 6LU7 pointing to the view

that COVID-19 may also play a role in negative inotropic effect.

The A β oligometric residues involved in hydrogen bonds are Leu 34, and Met 35, Gln 189 and the COVID-19 residues involved in hydrogen bonds are Leu 141, Tyr 237 and Thr 199. From this it is concluded that Amyloid beta oligometric displayed predictive association for COVID-19 M-pro in regards to its active site.

Ligplot analysis further analyzed the ligand-protein complex interactions. All gathered intel of this research signals that $A\beta$ interacts with 6LU7 in determinant surety and $A\beta$ 31-35 is the best interacted ligand which in form of Complex 1 has increased binding affinity to receptor of apoptotic pathway. The study also gives a visual perspective of the interactions with displays of docking complexes visualization justifying the overall docking results. All these findings communally indicate that $A\beta$ oligomeric protein reaction to COVID-19 may lead to determent of the brain transitioning into cognitive impairment ultimately leading to neurodegeneration. Our research not only demonstrated 6LU7 as a potential risk factor of Alzheimer's disease with the help of predictive association and *Insilco* study but also showcased how the interactions may effect apoptotic demise. Aside from interaction analysis different bioinformatics tools were employed to study protein-ligand complex interactions.

The prime A β oligomer interaction of 31-35 oligomer with SARS-CoV-19 suggests that COVID-19 likely plays some role in induction of cellular death through apoptotic signals leading to neurodegeneration which is a conclusion deducted by increased affinity of the complex with DR4 receptor of the apoptotic pathway. The projected protein-ligand links through Ligplot+ study and literature review conducted in the following research shows that in a capacity COVID-19 and AD might share a link.

Chapter 4

Conclusion

Conclusion

From this Predictive binding association study, it is concluded that $A\beta$ oligomers interacts with Covid-19 during infection time of the disease. The associative interactions in this study were analyzed using the LigPlot+ software. The protein ligands in question all show both hydrogen bonding as well as hydrophobic interactions. In this study, specific interaction between the amyloid beta protein and the main protease from COVID-19 were investigated and later compared with obtained results and existing data for AD through bioinformatics approach using molecular simulation and visualization tools like Discovery studio, PyRx, PyMOL, Ligplot. We evaluated 12 amyloid beta oligometric proteins and $A\beta$ 22-35, $A\beta$ 29-40, $A\beta$ 31-35 stood out among all-oligometric protein interaction wise with 6LU7 in detail analysis, sidewise comparison revealed that $A\beta$ 31-35 has the lowest binding energy among all the amyloid beta oligomers that is -6.3kcal/mol energy obtained from PyRx thus making it the most affinitive ligand for 6LU7 (COVID-19 M-pro), the Ligplot+ tool than was appointed and it revealed that Leu 141, and Gln 189 are the common amino acid residues that interacts with the top three amyloid beta ($A\beta$) 22-35, $A\beta$ 29-40, $A\beta$ 31-35) oligomer results. However the main bonds: hydrogen bonds at Thr 190, Leu 141, Gln 189, Glu 166 along with alkyl bonds at Met 49 and van der wall at Gln 192, Leu 167, Thr 26 formed by amyloid beta 31-15 with SARS-CoV-2 are the most vital for this study due to it being the highest affinity conformer. Also, 6LU7 and A β 31-35 complex showed an increased interactive association with an active receptor for apoptotic pathway in charge of neural apoptosis showing an increased binding approach unlike either alone. COVID-19 hence can be considered a potential risk modulator for Alzheimer based on predictive binding associations studies.

Future prospects

The purpose of the study was to use bioinformatics approaches to predict the relation between AD and COVID-19 through the interaction of amyloid conformers with SARS-CoV-2 highlighting the sites of interaction between both to determine in restricted lengths the possibility of COVID-19 as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. Insilco analysis revealed that Amyloid beta 31-35 has high affinity for COVID-19 giving us an insight to what maybe the link to the dementia properties of COVID-19 patient in the long haul, thus in the same light suggesting how AD pathology questions for brain fog related COVID-19 queries can be tackled. This research can be used to study further how Alzheimer's disease etiology might be effected by the pandemic and how much impact COVID-19 has on cognitive impairment. These results point at interactive associations of Amyloid oligomers, and its conformers as potential interacts of COVID-19 and could also possibly be studied as novel therapeutic approach against Alzheimer's disease keeping in mind how COVID-19 acts as a catalytic agent to AD in receptor binding making it a possible risk factor. Also, how we can tackle COVID-19 in the light of AD and vice versa.

References

- Abate, G., Memo, M., & Uberti, D. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on Alzheimer's Disease Risk: Viewpoint for Research Action. *Healthcare* 2020, Vol. 8, Page 286, 8(3), 286. https://doi.org/10.3390/HEALTHCARE8030286
- Anderson, G. (2020, September 11). *Mental Health Needs Rise With Pandemic*. Inside Higher Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/09/11/students-great-need-mental-health-support-during-pandemic
- 3. Abbott, A. (2020). Are infections seeding some cases of Alzheimer's disease? Nature, 587, 22–25.
- Al-Aly, Z., Xie, Y., & Bowe, B. (2021). High-dimensional characterization of post-acute sequelae of COVID-19. Nature, 594, 259–264.
- Amruta, N., Chastain, W. H., Paz, M., Solch, R. J., Murray-Brown, I. C., Befeler, J. B., Gressett, T. E., Longo, M. T., Engler-Chiurazzi, E. B., & Bix, G. (2021). SARS-CoV-2 mediated neuroinflammation and the impact of COVID-19 in neurological disorders. Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews, 58, 1–15.
- Beaud, V., Crottaz-Herbette, S., Dunet, V., Vaucher, J., Bernard-Valnet, R., Du Pasquier, R., Bart, P. A., & Clarke, S. (2021). Pattern of cognitive deficits in severe COVID-19 [Internet]. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 92, 567–568. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2020-325173
- Balkhi, F., Nasir, A., Zehra, A., & Riaz, R. (2020). Psychological and Behavioral Response to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic. *Cureus*, 12(5). https://doi.org/10.7759/CUREUS.7923
- Bloom, G. S. (2014). Amyloid-β and Tau: The Trigger and Bullet in Alzheimer Disease Pathogenesis. JAMA Neurology, 71(4), 505–508. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2013.5847
- Boldrini, M., Canoll, P. D., & Klein, R. S. (2021). How COVID-19 Affects the Brain. JAMA Psychiatry, 78(6), 682–683. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMAPSYCHIATRY.2021.0500
- Boutoleau-Bretonnière, C., Pouclet-Courtemanche, H., Gillet, A., Bernard, A., Deruet, A. L., Gouraud, I., Mazoue, A., Lamy, E., Rocher, L., Kapogiannis, D., & El Haj, M. (2020). The Effects of Confinement on Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Alzheimer's Disease During the COVID-19 Crisis. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 76(1), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-200604
- Cao, W., Fang, Z., Hou, G., Han, M., Xu, X., Dong, J., & Zheng, J. (2020). The psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on college students in China. *Psychiatry Research*, 287, 112934. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSYCHRES.2020.112934
- Chakraborty, K., & Chatterjee, M. (2020). Psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic on general population in West Bengal: A cross-sectional study. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, 62(3), 266–272. https://doi.org/10.4103/PSYCHIATRY.INDIANJPSYCHIATRY_276_20
- Chang, Y. L., Fennema-Notestine, C., Holland, D., McEvoy, L. K., Stricker, N. H., Salmon, D. P., Dale, A. M., & Bondi, M. W. (2014). APOE interacts with age to modify rate of decline in cognitive and brain changes in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 10(3), 336–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2013.05.1763
- Chatterjee, R., Ghosh, M., Sahoo, S., Padhi, S., Misra, N., Raina, V., Suar, M., & Son, Y. O. (2021). Next-Generation Bioinformatics Approaches and Resources for Coronavirus Vaccine Discovery and Development—A Perspective Review. *Vaccines*, 9(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/VACCINES9080812
- Chen. Xiaohua, Zhao, B., Qu, Y., Chen, Y., Xiong, J., & Feng, Y. (2020). Detectable Serum Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Viral Load (RNAemia) Is Closely Correlated With Drastically Elevated Interleukin 6 Level in Critically III Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 71(8), 1937–1942.
- Chukwudozie, O. S., Duru, V. C., Ndiribe, C. C., Aborode, A. T., Oyebanji, V. O., & Emikpe, B. O. (2021). The Relevance of Bioinformatics Applications in the Discovery of Vaccine Candidates and Potential Drugs for COVID-19 Treatment. *Bioinformatics and Biology Insights*, 15, 11779322211002168. https://doi.org/10.1177/11779322211002168

- Ciaccio, M., Lo Sasso, B., Scazzone, C., Gambino, C. M., Ciaccio, A. M., Bivona, G., Piccoli, T., Giglio, R. V., & Agnello, L. (2021). COVID-19 and Alzheimer's Disease. *Brain Sciences 2021, Vol. 11, Page 305*, *11*(3), 305. https://doi.org/10.3390/BRAINSCI11030305
- Cluver, L., Lachman, J. M., Sherr, L., Wessels, I., Krug, E., Rakotomalala, S., Blight, S., Hillis, S., Bachman, G., Green, O., Butchart, A., Tomlinson, M., Ward, C. L., Doubt, J., & McDonald, K. (2020). Parenting in a time of COVID-19. *The Lancet*, 395(10231), e64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30736-4
- 19. Dix, E., & Roy, K. (2022). COVID-19: Brain Effects. *The Psychiatric Clinics of North America*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSC.2022.07.009
- 20. Dolan, E. W. (2020, March 22). *Study suggests "robust social support is necessary" to buffer against anxiety amid coronavirus pandemic*. Psy Post. https://www.psypost.org/2020/03/study-suggests-robust-social-support-is-necessary-to-buffer-against-anxiety-amid-covid-19-pandemic-56205
- Douaud, G., Lee, S., Alfaro-Almagro, F., Arthofer, C., Wang, C., Lange, F., Andersson, J. L. R., Griffanti, L., Duff, E., Jbabdi, S., Taschler, B., Winkler, A., Nichols, T. E., Collins, R., Matthews, P. M., Allen, N., Miller, K. L., & Smith, S. M. (2021). Brain imaging before and after COVID-19 in UK Biobank. *MedRxiv*, 2021.06.11.21258690. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.06.11.21258690
- 22. Fontana, I. C., Bongarzone, S., Gee, A., Souza, D. O., & Zimmer, E. R. (2020). PET Imaging as a Tool for Assessing COVID-19 Brain Changes. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 43(12), 935–938. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2020.10.010
- Glabe, C. G., & Kayed, R. (2006). Common structure and toxic function of amyloid oligomers implies a common mechanism of pathogenesis. *Neurology*, 66(1 suppl 1), S74–S78. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000192103.24796.42
- Hampshire, A., Trender, W., Chamberlain, S. R., Jolly, A. E., Grant, J. E., Patrick, F., Mazibuko, N., Williams, S. C., Barnby, J. M., Hellyer, P., & Mehta, M. A. (2021). Cognitive deficits in people who have recovered from COVID-19. *EClinicalMedicine*, *39*, 101044. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECLINM.2021.101044
- 25. Hector, A., & Brouillette, J. (2021). Hyperactivity Induced by Soluble Amyloid-β Oligomers in the Early Stages of Alzheimer's Disease. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 13, 244. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNMOL.2020.600084/BIBTEX
- 26. Huang, L., Yao, Q., Gu, X., Wang, Q., Ren, L., Wang, Y., Hu, P., Guo, L., Liu, M., Xu, J., Zhang, X., Qu, Y., Fan, Y., Li, X., Li, C., Yu, T., Xia, J., Wei, M., Chen, L., ... Cao, B. (2021). 1-year outcomes in hospital survivors with COVID-19: a longitudinal cohort study. *The Lancet*, 398(10302), 747–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01755-4
- 27. Hufsky, F., Lamkiewicz, K., Almeida, A., Aouacheria, A., Arighi, C., Bateman, A., Baumbach, J., Beerenwinkel, N., Brandt, C., Cacciabue, M., Chuguransky, S., Drechsel, O., Finn, R. D., Fritz, A., Fuchs, S., Hattab, G., Hauschild, A. C., Heider, D., Hoffmann, M., ... Marz, M. (2021). Computational strategies to combat COVID-19: useful tools to accelerate SARS-CoV-2 and coronavirus research. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, 22(2), 642–663. https://doi.org/10.1093/BIB/BBAA232
- 28. Hyman, B. T. (2011). Amyloid-Dependent and Amyloid-Independent Stages of Alzheimer Disease. *Archives of Neurology*, 68(8), 1062–1064. https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHNEUROL.2011.70
- 29. Ishack, S., & Lipner, S. R. (2021). Bioinformatics and immunoinformatics to support COVID-19 vaccine development. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 93(9), 5209–5211. https://doi.org/10.1002/JMV.27017
- 30. ISLAM, M. J., Cho, J.-A., Kim, T.-J., Kim, B. J., Moon, S.-Y., Lee, E.-Y., Lee, S.-J., & Seong, S.-Y. (2020). Taurodeoxycholate, a master key locking both priming and activation signal necessary for inflammasomal activation of microglia by Amyloid beta in Alzheimer's diseases. *The Journal of Immunology*, 204(1 Supplement).
- Kas, A., Soret, M., Pyatigoskaya, N., Habert, M. O., Hesters, A., Le Guennec, L., Paccoud, O., Bombois, S., & Delorme, C. (2021). The cerebral network of COVID-19-related encephalopathy: a longitudinal voxel-based 18F-FDG-PET study. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*, 48(8), 2543–2557. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00259-020-05178-Y/TABLES/4
- 32. Kayed, R., Head, E., Thompson, J. L., McIntire, T. M., Milton, S. C., Cotman, C. W., & Glabel, C. G. (2003). Common structure of soluble amyloid oligomers implies common mechanism of pathogenesis. *Science*, *300*(5618), 486–489. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1079469/SUPPL_FILE/KAYED.SOM.PDF
- Kecojevic, A., Basch, C. H., Sullivan, M., & Davi, N. K. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on mental health of undergraduate students in New Jersey, cross-sectional study. *PLOS ONE*, 15(9), e0239696. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0239696

- Laudicella, R., Burger, I. A., Panasiti, F., Longo, Costanza, Scalisi, S., Minutoli, F., Baldari, S., Luigi, Grimaldi, M. E., & Alongi, P. (2021). Subcutaneous Uptake on [18F]Florbetaben PET/CT: a Case Report of Possible Amyloid-Beta Immune-Reactivity After COVID-19 Vaccination. 3, 2626–2628. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42399-021-01058-0
- 35. Liu, N., Sun, J., Wang, X., Zhao, M., Huang, Q., & Li, H. (2020). The Impact of Dementia on the Clinical Outcome of COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease : JAD*, 78(4), 1775–1782. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-201016
- 36. Liu, Y. H., Chen, Y., Wang, Q. H., Wang, L. R., Jiang, L., Yang, Y., Chen, X., Li, Y., Cen, Y., Xu, C., Zhu, J., Li, W., Wang, Y. R., Zhang, L. L., Liu, J., Xu, Z. Q., & Wang, Y. J. (2022). One-Year Trajectory of Cognitive Changes in Older Survivors of COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: A Longitudinal Cohort Study. JAMA Neurology, 79(5), 509–517. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2022.0461
- Lyra e Silva, N. M., Barros-Aragão, F. G. Q., De Felice, F. G., & Ferreira, S. T. (2022). Inflammation at the crossroads of COVID-19, cognitive deficits and depression. *Neuropharmacology*, 209, 109023. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROPHARM.2022.109023
- Merkler, A. E., Parikh, N. S., Mir, S., Gupta, A., Kamel, H., Lin, E., Lantos, J., Schenck, E. J., Goyal, P., Bruce, S. S., Kahan, J., Lansdale, K. N., Lemoss, N. M., Murthy, S. B., Stieg, P. E., Fink, M. E., Iadecola, C., Segal, A. Z., Cusick, M., ... Navi, B. B. (2020). Risk of Ischemic Stroke in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) vs Patients With Influenza. *JAMA Neurology*, 77(11), 1366–1372. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2020.2730
- Miskowiak, K. W., Johnsen, S., Sattler, S. M., Nielsen, S., Kunalan, K., Rungby, J., Lapperre, T., & Porsberg, C. M. (2021). Cognitive impairments four months after COVID-19 hospital discharge: Pattern, severity and association with illness variables. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 46, 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EURONEURO.2021.03.019
- 40. Mukerji, S. S., & Solomon, I. H. (2021). What can we learn from brain autopsies in COVID-19? *Neuroscience Letters*, 742, 135528. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEULET.2020.135528
- 41. Naughton, S. X., Raval, U., & Pasinetti, G. M. (2020). Potential Novel Role of COVID-19 in Alzheimer's Disease and Preventative Mitigation Strategies. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 76(1), 21–25. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-200537
- Prudencio, M., Erben, Y., Marquez, C. P., Jansen-West, K. R., Franco-Mesa, C., Heckman, M. G., White, L. J., Dunmore, J. A., Cook, C. N., Lilley, M. T., Song, Y., Harlow, C. F., Oskarsson, B., Nicholson, K. A., Wszolek, Z. K., Hickson, L. T. J., O'Horo, J. C., Hoyne, J. B., Gendron, T. F., ... Petrucelli, L. (2021). Serum neurofilament light protein correlates with unfavorable clinical outcomes in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *Science Translational Medicine*, *13*(602), 7643. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.ABI7643/SUPPL_FILE/SCITRANSLMED.ABI7643_SM.PDF
- 43. Qin, Y., Wu, J., Chen, T., Li, J., Zhang, G., Wu, D., Zhou, Y., Zheng, N., Cai, A., Ning, Q., Manyande, A., Xu, F., Wang, J., & Zhu, W. (2021). Long-term microstructure and cerebral blood flow changes in patients recovered from COVID-19 without neurological manifestations. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 131(8). https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI147329
- Rahman, M. A., Islam, K., Rahman, S., & Alamin, M. (2021). Neurobiochemical Cross-talk Between COVID-19 and Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 58(3), 1017–1023. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12035-020-02177-W/FIGURES/1
- 45. Reiken, S., Sittenfeld, L., Dridi, H., Liu, Y., Liu, X., & Marks, A. R. (2022). Alzheimer's-like signaling in brains of COVID-19 patients. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, *18*(5), 955–965. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12558
- 46. Rhodes, C. H., Priemer, D. S., Karlovich, E., Perl, D. P., & Goldman, J. (2022). B-Amyloid Deposits in Young COVID Patients. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/SSRN.4003213
- 47. Schachter, A. S., & Davis, K. L. (2000). Alzheimer's disease. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 2(2), 91. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2000.2.2/ASSCHACHTER
- 48. Sengupta, U., Nilson, A. N., & Kayed, R. (2016). The Role of Amyloid-β Oligomers in Toxicity, Propagation, and Immunotherapy. *EBioMedicine*, *6*, 42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EBIOM.2016.03.035
- 49. Sephton, C. F., & Yu, G. (2008). Abeta Predictor of Alzheimer Disease Symptoms. *Archives of Neurology*, 65(7), 875–876. https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHNEUR.65.7.875
- 50. Shigemura, J., Ursano, R. J., Morganstein, J. C., Kurosawa, M., & Benedek, D. M. (2020). Public responses to the novel 2019 coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in Japan: Mental health consequences and target populations. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 74(4), 281–282. https://doi.org/10.1111/PCN.12988

- Sita, G., Graziosi, A., Hrelia, P., & Morroni, F. (2021). NLRP3 and Infections: β-Amyloid in Inflammasome beyond Neurodegeneration. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2021, Vol. 22, Page 6984*, 22(13), 6984. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS22136984
- 52. Solomon, J. J., Heyman, B., Ko, J. P., Condos, R., & Lynch, D. A. (2021). CT of Postacute Lung Complications of COVID-19. *Radiology*, *301*(2), E383–E395. https://doi.org/10.1148/RADIOL.2021211396
- Song, E., Zhang, C., Israelow, B., Lu-Culligan, A., Prado, A. V., Skriabine, S., Lu, P., Weizman, O. El, Liu, F., Dai, Y., Szigeti-Buck, K., Yasumoto, Y., Wang, G., Castaldi, C., Heltke, J., Ng, E., Wheeler, J., Alfajaro, M. M., Levavasseur, E., ... Iwasaki, A. (2021). Neuroinvasion of SARS-CoV-2 in human and mouse brain. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 218(3). https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20202135/VIDEO-1
- 54. Tomiyama, T. (2010). [Involvement of beta-amyloid in the etiology of Alzheimer's disease]. *Brain and Nerve* = *Shinkei Kenkyu No Shinpo*, 62(7), 691–699. https://europepmc.org/article/med/20675873
- 55. Vijayakumar, M., Janani, B., Kannappan, P., Renganathan, S., Al-Ghamdi, S., Alsaidan, M., Abdelaziz, M. A., Peer Mohideen, A., Shahid, M., & Ramesh, T. (2022). In silico identification of potential inhibitors against main protease of SARS-CoV-2 6LU7 from Andrographis panniculata via molecular docking, binding energy calculations and molecular dynamics simulation studies. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 29(1), 18–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SJBS.2021.10.060
- 56. Virhammar, J., Nääs, A., Fällmar, D., Cunningham, J. L., Klang, A., Ashton, N. J., Jackmann, S., Westman, G., Frithiof, R., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., Kumlien, E., & Rostami, E. (2021). Biomarkers for central nervous system injury in cerebrospinal fluid are elevated in COVID-19 and associated with neurological symptoms and disease severity. *European Journal of Neurology*, 28(10), 3324–3331. https://doi.org/10.1111/ENE.14703
- Wang, H., Lu, J., Zhao, X., Qin, R., Song, K., Xu, Y., Zhang, J., & Chen, Y. (2021). Alzheimer's disease in elderly COVID-19 patients: potential mechanisms and preventive measures. *Neurological Sciences*, 42(12), 4913–4920. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10072-021-05616-1/FIGURES/2
- 58. Wang, S. C., Su, K. P., & Pariante, C. M. (2021). The three frontlines against COVID-19: Brain, Behavior, and Immunity. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, *93*, 409–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBI.2021.01.030
- 59. Xia, X., Wang, Y., & Zheng, J. (2021). COVID-19 and Alzheimer's disease: how one crisis worsens the other. *Translational Neurodegeneration 2021 10:1, 10*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40035-021-00237-2
- Zhou, M., Yin, Z., Xu, J., Wang, S., Liao, T., Wang, K., Li, Y., Yang, F., Wang, Z., Yang, G., Zhang, J., & Jin, Y. (2021). Inflammatory Profiles and Clinical Features of Coronavirus 2019 Survivors 3 Months After Discharge in Wuhan, China. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 224(9), 1473–1488. https://doi.org/10.1093/INFDIS/JIAB181
- 61. Zlokovic, B. V., Gottesman, R. F., Bernstein, K. E., Seshadri, S., McKee, A., Snyder, H., Greenberg, S. M., Yaffe, K., Schaffer, C. B., Yuan, C., Hughes, T. M., Daemen, M. J., Williamson, J. D., González, H. M., Schneider, J., Wellington, C. L., Katusic, Z. S., Stoeckel, L., Koenig, J. I., ... Chen, J. (2020). Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia (VCID): A report from the 2018 National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute and National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke Workshop. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 16(12), 1714–1733. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12157
- 62. Lu, R.; Zhao, X.; Li, J.; Niu, P.; Yang, B.; Wu, H.; Wang, W.; Song, H.; Huang, B.; Zhu, N.; et al. Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: Implications for virus origins and receptor binding.
- 63. Mallapaty, S. The coronavirus is most deadly if you are older and male—New data reveal the risks. *Nature* **2020**, *585*, 16–17.
- 64. Kremer, S.; Lersy, F.; Anheim, M.; Merdji, H.; Schenck, M.; Oesterlé, H.; Bolognini, F.; Messie, J.; Khalil, A.; Gaudemer, A.; et al. Neurologic and neuroimaging findings in COVID-19 patients: A retrospective multicenter study. *Neurology* **2020**.
- Mao, L.; Jin, H.; Wang, M.; Hu, Y.; Chen, S.; He, Q.; Chang, J.; Hong, C.; Zhou, Y.; Wang, D.; et al. Neurologic Manifestations of Hospitalized Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Neurol.* 2020, 77, 683–690.
- 66. Atkins, J.L.; Masoli, J.A.H.; Delgado, J.; Pilling, L.C.; Kuo, C.L.; Kuchel, G.A.; Melzer, D. Preexisting Comorbidities Predicting COVID-19 and Mortality in the UK Biobank Community Cohort. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 2020.
- 67. Perry, G. Alzheimer's Disease Patients in the Crosshairs of COVID-19. J. Alzheimers Dis. 2020, 76, 1.
- Livingston, G.; Rostamipour, H.; Gallagher, P.; Kalafatis, C.; Shastri, A.; Huzzey, L.; Liu, K.; Sommerlad, A.; Marston, L. Prevalence, management, and outcomes of SARS-CoV-2 infections in older people and those with dementia in mental health wards in London, UK: A retrospective observational study. *Lancet Psychiatry* 2020.
- 69. Masters, C.L.; Bateman, R.; Blennow, K.; Rowe, C.C.; Sperling, R.A.; Cummings, J.L. Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers* 2015, 1, 15056.
- 70. Mattson, M.P. Pathways towards and away from Alzheimer's disease. Nature 2004, 430, 631-639.
- 71. Plotkin, S.S.; Cashman, N.R. Passive immunotherapies targeting Aβ and tau in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **2020**, *144*, 105010.
- 72. Lin, Y.S.; Pande, V.S. Effects of Familial Mutations on the Monomer Structure of Aβ42. *Biophys. J.* **2012**, *103*, L47–L49.
- 73. World Health Organization. Available online: https://covid19.who.int/ (accessed on 26 November 2021).
- 74. Tay, M.Z.; Poh, C.M.; Renia, L.; MacAry, P.A.; Ng, L.F.P. The trinity of COVID-19: Immunity, inflammation and intervention. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2020, 20, 363–374.
- Lopez-Leon, S.; Wegman-Ostrosky, T.; Perelman, C.; Sepulveda, R.; Rebolledo, P.A.; Cuapio, A.; Villapol, S. More than 50 long-term effects of COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci. Rep. 2021, 11, 16144.
- 76. Thakur, B.; Dubey, P.; Benitez, J.; Torres, J.P.; Reddy, S.; Shokar, N.; Aung, K.; Mukherjee, D.; Dwivedi, A.K. A systematic review and meta-analysis of geographic differences in comorbidities and associated severity and mortality among individuals with COVID-19. Sci. Rep. 2021, 11, 8562.
- 77. World Health Organization. Available online: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia (accessed on 26 November 2021).
- 78. C.; Akoumianakis, I.; Antoniades, C.; Brown, J.; Griffin, K.J.; Platt, F.; Ozber, C.H.; et al. Elevated circulating amyloid concentrations in obesity and diabetes promote vascular dysfunction. *J. Clin. Investig.* **2020**, *130*, 4104–4117.
- Meinhardt, J., Radke, J., Dittmayer, C., Franz, J., Thomas, C., Mothes, R., Laue, M., Schneider, J., Brünink, S., Greuel, S., Lehmann, M., Hassan, O., Aschman, T., Schumann, E., Chua, R.L., Conrad, C., Eils, R., Stenzel, W., Windgassen, M., ... Heppner, F.L. (2021). Olfactory transmucosal SARS-CoV-2 invasion as a port of central nervous system entry in individuals with COVID-19. Nature Neuroscience, 24, 168–175.
- Trott O, Olson AJ. AutoDock Vina: improving the speed and accuracy of docking with a new scoring function, efficient optimization, and multithreading. J Comput Chem. 2010 Jan 30;31(2):455-61. doi: 10.1002/jcc.21334. PMID: 19499576; PMCID: PMC3041641
- Meppiel, E., Peiffer-Smadja, N., Maury, A., Bekri, I., Delorme, C., Desestret, V., Gorza, L., Hautecloque-Raysz, G., Landre, S., Lannuzel, A., Moulin, S., Perrin, P., Petitgas, P., Sellal, F., Wang, A., Tattevin, P., & de Broucker, T. (2021). Neurologic manifestations associated with COVID-19: A multicentre registry. Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 27, 458–466.
- 82. Miners, S., Kehoe, P. G., & Love, S. (2020). Cognitive impact of COVID-19: Looking beyond the short term. Alzheimer's Research & Therapy, 12, 170.
- 83. Neman, J., & Chen, T. C. (2015). The choroid plexus and cerebrospinal fluid: Emerging roles in CNS development, maintenance, and disease progression. Academic Press.
- Paterson R. W., Benjamin L. A., Mehta P. R., Brown R. L., Athauda D., Ashton N. J., Leckey, C. A., Ziff, O. J., Heaney, J., Heslegrave, A. J., Benedet, A. L., Blennow, K., Checkley, A. M., Houlihan, C. F., Mummery, C. J., Lunn, M. P., Manji, H., Zandi, M. S., Keddie, S., ... Schott, J. M. (2021). Serum and cerebrospinal fluid biomarker profiles in acute SARS-CoV-2-associated neurological syndromes. Brain Communications, 3, fcab099. https://doi.org/10.1093/braincomms/fcab099
- Paterson, R. W., Brown, R. L., Benjamin, L., Nortley, R., Wiethoff, S., Bharucha, T., Jayaseelan, D. L., Kumar, G., Raftopoulos, R. E., Zambreanu, L., Vivekanandam, V., Khoo, A., Geraldes, R., Chinthapalli, K., Boyd, E., Tuzlali, H., Price, G., Christofi, G., Morrow, J., ... Zandi, M. S. (2020). The emerging spectrum of COVID-19 neurology: Clinical, radiological and laboratory findings. Brain, 143, 3104–3120.
- Yang, A. C., Kern, F., Losada, P. M., Agam, M. R., Maat, C. A., Schmartz, G. P., Fehlmann, T., Stein, J. A., Schaum, N., Lee, D. P., Calcuttawala, K., Vest, R. T., Berdnik, D., Lu, N., Hahn, O., Gate, D., McNerney, M. W., Channappa, D., Cobos, I., ... Wyss-Coray, T. (2021). Dysregulation of brain and choroid plexus cell types in severe COVID-19. Nature, 595, 565–571.
- Zetterberg, H., & Blennow, K. (2020). Blood biomarkers: Democratizing Alzheimer's diagnostics. Neuron, 106, 881–883.
- 88. Zhou, H., Lu, S., Chen, J., Wei, N., Wang, D., Lyu, H., Shi, C., & Hu, S. (2020). The landscape of cognitive function in recovered COVID-19 patients. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 129, 98–102

End of print